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TOMIO B. NARITA (SBN 156576)
tnarita@snllp.com
R. TRAVIS CAMPBELL (SBN 271580)
tcampbell@snllp.com
SIMMONDS & NARITA LLP
44 Montgomery Street, Suite 3010
San Francisco, CA 94104-4816
Telephone: (415) 283-1000
Facsimile:   (415) 352-2625

Attorneys for Defendant 
Comenity Bank

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

LORI ANN GONZALEZ,
individually and on behalf of others
similarly situated,

                     Plaintiff,

                     vs.

COMENITY BANK, 
DOES 1-30,

                     Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CASE NO. 
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TO THE CLERK OF THE ABOVE-ENTITLED COURT:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that defendant Comenity Bank (“Defendant”)

hereby removes to this Court the state court action described below.

1. On January 29, 2019, a complaint (“Complaint”) was filed against

Defendant by plaintiff Lori Ann Gonzalez (“Plaintiff”) in the Superior Court of the

State of California in and for the County of Fresno, in an action styled as Lori Ann

Gonzalez, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated, vs. Comenity Bank,

Does 1-30, case number 19CECG00377.  The Complaint asserts the following causes

of action against Defendant: 1) “Violations of California Civil Code, § 1788.18's

Requirement to Notify Oral Identity Theft Claimants that the Claim Must Be in

Writing,” 2) “Violations of California Penal Code, § 530.8, subd. (a),” 3) “Violations

of California Business & Professions Code, §§ 17200 et seq.,” and 4) “Action to

Establish Identity Theft under California Civil Code, § 1798.93.”  A copy of the

Complaint, the summons and all other documents that were served on Defendant are

attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2. Plaintiff alleges that she “is and was at all times mentioned herein a

resident of Fresno County, California.”  See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶ 3.  Defendant is

therefore informed and believes that Plaintiff is a citizen of California.

3. Defendant is a Delaware State Bank and has its principal place of

business in Delaware.  Accordingly, Defendant is a resident of Delaware.  

4. As discussed in more detail below, the total amount of individual relief

to which Plaintiff claims she is entitled if she prevails in this action exceeds $75,000. 

See Ex. A, Complaint at Prayer for Relief, ¶¶ 1-6; see, infra, ¶¶ 7-16.

5. This removal petition is timely under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b) because

Defendant was served with the Complaint on February 24, 2019.1

1 The Proof of Service of Summons reflects that the Complaint was mailed to
Defendant on February 14, 2019.  As a result, service was deemed complete on February
24, 2019.  See Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 415.40 (service by mail on out-of-state defendant
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JURISDICTION

6. This action is a civil action over which this Court has original

jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(a)(1) and 1332(c), and that may be removed to

this Court by Defendant pursuant to the provisions of 28 U.S.C. § 1441(b), because

the action is between citizens of different states and the amount in controversy

exceeds the sum of $75,000.  See, supra, ¶¶ 2-4.

7. The Ninth Circuit has recognized that the “amount in controversy,” for

purposes of removal, is the “amount at stake in the underlying litigation,” and

“includes all relief claimed at the time of the removal to which the plaintiff would be

entitled if she prevails.”  Chavez v. JP Morgan Chase & Co., 888 F.3d 413, 417-18

(9th Cir. 2018).  That Court recently held that district courts “must include future

attorneys’ fees recoverable by statute or contract when assessing whether the

amount-in-controversy requirement is met.”  Fritsch v. Swift Transportation Co. of

Arizona, LLC, 899 F.3d 785, 794 (9th Cir. 2018).  

8. Based on the claims alleged in the Complaint, which Defendant denies,

the total relief Plaintiff claims she is entitled to in the event she prevails in this action

exceeds $75,000.

9. Plaintiff seeks actual and statutory damages for Defendant’s alleged

violations of Section 1788.18 of the California Rosenthal Fair Debt Collection

Practices Act (“Rosenthal Act”).  See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶¶ 47-52, Prayer for Relief

at ¶ 1.  Although Defendant denies any violation of law occurred, the Rosenthal Act 

authorizes a prevailing plaintiff to recover actual damages, and also allows the party

to recover up to $1,000 in statutory damages in the event a wilful violation is proven. 

See Cal. Civ. Code § 1788.30(a)-(b). 

10. Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant violated Section 530.8(a) of the

California Penal Code (“Penal Code”) by allegedly failing to provide her certain

deemed complete ten days after mailing). 

GONZALEZ v. COMENITY BANK  (CASE NO.                                        ) 
NOTICE OF REMOVAL 2

Case 1:19-cv-00348-LJO-BAM   Document 1   Filed 03/14/19   Page 3 of 49



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

information and documents, in response to her request, in connection a credit card

account issued by Defendant (“Account”) that was allegedly opened in Plaintiff’s

name without her authorization.  See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶¶ 13-18, 53-55.  Section

530.8(a) of Penal Code states, in relevant part:

[i]f a person discovers that an application in his or her name for a . . . credit
card . . . has been filed with any person or entity by an unauthorized person, or
that an account in his or her name has been opened with a bank . . . by an
unauthorized person then, upon presenting to the person or entity with which
the application was filed or the account was opened a copy of a police report
prepared pursuant to Section 530.6 and identifying information in the
categories of information that the unauthorized person used to complete the
application or to open the account, the person, shall be entitled to receive
information related to the application or account, including a copy of the
unauthorized person’s application or application information and a record of
transactions or charges associated with the application or account.

   
Penal Code § 530.8(a).  If the statute applied as Plaintiff alleges, which Defendant

denies, Defendant was required to provide Plaintiff with certain information and

documents “within 10 business days of receipt” of her “request and submission of the

required copy of the police report and identifying information.”  Id.  

11. Plaintiff alleges that in August 2018 she sent a letter to Defendant

alleging she had been the victim of identity theft with respect to the Account and

enclosed “a copy of police report” she filed “pursuant to section 530.6 of the Penal

Code” that explained “the basis” for her claim.   See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶¶ 23-25. 

She claims the letter “requested copies of the account application for the [Account],

any signatures associated with the account, and any bills associated with the

account.” Id. at ¶ 26.  She alleges Defendant received the letter and enclosures on

September 5, 2018, but never provided her the requested documents.  Id. at ¶¶ 27-35. 

12. Based upon these allegations, Plaintiff seeks actual damages and

penalties under Section 530.8(d)(1) of the Penal Code due to Defendant’s alleged

failure to comply with Section 530.8(a).  See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶¶ 53-55, Prayer

for Relief at ¶ 2.  The Penal Code authorizes a prevailing plaintiff to recover

“damages, injunctive relief or other equitable relief, and a penalty of one hundred

dollars ($100) per day of noncompliance . . . .”  Penal Code § 530.8(d)(2).  Although
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Defendant denies that any noncompliance occurred, Plaintiff contends Defendant

was required to provide her certain information and documents relating to the

Account on or before September 19, 2018.  As a result, the “penalty” Plaintiff claims

she is entitled to as of the filing of this notice is $17,500,2 and, pursuant to the

statute, is increasing daily at a rate of $100. 

13. Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant violated Section 17200 of

California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”).  See Ex. A, Complaint at ¶¶ 56-65. 

She seeks restitution, injunctive relief, and other unidentified equitable relief for the

alleged violation.  Id. at Prayer for Relief at ¶ 4. 

14. Plaintiff also alleges that Defendant violated Section 1798.93 of the

California Civil Code, the Identity Theft Act (“ID Theft Act”).  See Ex. A, Complaint

at ¶¶ 66-70.  She seeks among other things, actual damages, injunctive relief and a

“civil penalty” for the alleged violation.  Id. at Prayer for Relief at ¶ 4.  Although

Defendant denies any violation occurred, the statute authorizes Plaintiff to seek

recovery of actual damages and “[a] civil penalty” of up to $30,000.  See Cal. Civ.

Code § 1798.93(c)(5)-(6).  

15. Plaintiff also seek attorneys’ fees and costs in connection with each of

the four claims asserted in the Complaint.  See Ex. A, Complaint, Prayer for Relief at

¶¶ 1-4.  Again, although Defendant denies any violation of law has occurred,

Defendant is informed and believes that the amount of future attorneys’ fees and

costs Plaintiff would be entitled to recover if she prevails at trial places the amount in

controversy above the $75,000 jurisdictional threshold.  See Seungtae Kim v. BMW

Financial Services NA, LLC, 2015 WL 12734013, at *1, *11 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 12,

2015) (awarding plaintiff $280,934.90 in attorneys’ fees where plaintiff prevailed at

trial on claims brought under the ID Theft Act and Fair Credit Reporting Act).  Here,

Defendant is informed and believes that Plaintiff’s counsel, Tavy A. Dumont and

2 175 days have occurred since Defendant’s alleged noncompliance.   
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Jonathan Weiss, would seek court approval of an hourly rate of at least $300 per

hour.3  Defendant is further informed and believes that Plaintiff’s counsel would

have to spend time on numerous tasks in order for Plaintiff to prevail at trial on the

claims alleged in the Complaint, including attending scheduling and status

conference, opposing any motions challenging the pleading filed by Defendant,

preparing and filing any amended pleadings, conducting class and individual

discovery, briefing a motion for class certification, opposing any motion for

summary judgment filed by Defendant, preparing pre-trial filings and attending pre-

trial hearings, and preparing for and conducting the trial.

16. As a result, although Defendant denies Plaintiff is entitled to any relief

requested in the Complaint, if she prevailed on all of the claims asserted in their

entirety, she would be entitled to an amount greater than $75,000.  As a result, the

amount in controversy requirement is satisfied in this case.  See, e.g., Chavez, 888

F.3d at 417-18; Fritsch, 899 F.3d at 794.

17. The Complaint was filed in the Superior Court of the State of California,

County of Fresno.  Venue in the Fresno or Bakersfield divisions of this District Court

is proper.  See 28 U.S.C. § 1441(a) (providing for removal “to the district court of the

United States for the district and division embracing the place” where the state court

action is pending); 28 U.S.C. § 84(b) (The Eastern District comprises the counties of,

inter alia, Fresno); Local Rule 120(d) (“. . . all civil . . . actions . . . arising in . . .

Fresno . . . shall be commenced in the United States District Court sitting Fresno,

California, and in Bakersfield, California, Yosemite National Park . . . .”).  

3 In 2016, Ms. Dumont requested fees at a rate of $300 per hour in a putative class
action she handled in case styled Newton v. American Debt Services, Inc., Case No.
3:11-cv-03228 EMC, U.S. District for the Northern District of California.  A copy of the
relevant portions of the motion identifying Ms. Dumont’s rate are attached hereto as
Exhibit B.  The motion for fees was granted.  See Newton v. American Debt Services,
Inc., 2016 WL 7757521, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Jul. 1, 2016).  Mr. Weiss has been practicing
for a significantly longer period of time than Ms. Dumont and, therefore, Defendant is
informed and believes he would seek fees at  the same rate or higher. 
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18. Defendant is represented by the undersigned.   

DATED: March 14, 2019 SIMMONDS & NARITA LLP
TOMIO B. NARITA
R. TRAVIS CAMPBELL

By:     /s/R. Travis Campbell
R. Travis Campbell
Attorneys for Defendant 
Comenity Bank
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1 Tavy A. Dumont, SBN 244946 

2 
LAW OFFICE OF TAVY A. DUMONT 
101 Cooper Street # 223 
Santa Cruz, California 95060-4526 

4 
Telephone: (831) 288-0714 
E-mail: tavy.dumont@dumontlaw.com 

3 

5 
Jonathan Weiss, SBN 143895 

6 LAW OFFICE OF JONATHAN WEISS 
7 10576 TroonAvenue 

Los Angeles, California 90064-4436 
8 Telephone: (310) 558-0404 
9 E-mail: jw@lojw.com 

E-FILED 
1/29/2019 4:09 PM 

FRESNO COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 
By: M. Sanchez, Deputy 

1 O Attorneys for Plaintiff and the proposed Classes 

11 

12 
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF FRESNO 

13 
LORI ANN GONZALEZ, individually 

14 and on behalf of others similarly situated, 

15 Plaintiff, 
16 vs. 

17 COMENITY BANK, 
18 DOES 1-30, 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendants. 

NO.:19CECG00377 

CLASS ACTION 

COMPLAINT 

Class Claims 
1. Violations of Civ. Code, § 17 8 8 .18, 

subd. (c); 
2. Violations of Pen. Code, § 530.8, 

subd. (a); and 
3. Violations of Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 

17200, et seq. 
Individual Claim 
4. Action to Establish Identity Theft 

under Civ. Code, § 1798.93 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. Defendants Comenity Bank and Does 1-30 pursued identity theft victim 

Lori Ann Gonzalez for a debt she did not owe; they ignored her when she said the 

account was not hers; and they ignored her requests for information about the alleged 

debt, violating California laws for how creditors and debt collector must respond to 

reports of identity theft. 

2. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of herself and two Classes of 

similarly situated persons in California. Plaintiff alleges the following based on her 

own knowledge, on information and belief, and on her counsel's investigation. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Lori Ann Gonzalez is and was at all times mentioned herein a 

13 resident of Fresno County, California. 

14 4. Defendant Comenity Bank, formerly known as World Financial Network 

15 Bank, is a Delaware corporation that regularly conducts business in California. 

16 5. The true names and capacities of the defendants sued as Does 1-30 are 

1 7 unknown to Plaintiff. 

18 6. Each of the Doe Defendants is a partner, agent (including but not limited 

19 to a debt collection agency working on behalf of Comenity Bank), alter ego, and/or co-

20 conspirator of the other Defendants, and/or is responsible in some manner for the 

21 occurrences herein alleged, and proximately caused Plaintiff's and the Class members' 

22 damages. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

7. As to Defendants that are alter egos of other Defendants, there is such a 

unity of interest and ownership between the Defendants that no separation actually 

exists, leading to an inequitable result if the acts and omissions herein alleged are 

treated as those of one Defendant alone. 

8. Unless otherwise required by the context of the allegation, references to 

the Defendants include their parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, divisions, predecessors, 

1 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
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1 successors, assigns, administrators, associates, alter egos, joint venturers, related or 

2 affiliated entities, partners, owners, managers, contractors, agents, servants, employees, 

3 assistants and/or consultants. 

4 9. Unless otherwise alleged, whenever reference is made in this Complaint to 

5 any act of Comenity Bank, such allegations shall mean that the Defendant did the act 

6 through its agents, servants, employees, assistants, representatives, and/or consultants, 

7 while they were acting within the actual or ostensible scope of their authority. 

8 10. Each Defendant, when acting as the agent of another Defendant, carried 

9 out a joint scheme, business plan or policy in all respects pertinent hereto, making the 

10 acts of each Defendant, when acting as the agent of another Defendant, legally 

11 attributable to the other Defendant. 

12 11. Each Defendant, when acting as a principal, caused, knew of, and/or 

13 should have known of the wrongful actions of each and every one of its agents, 

14 servants, employees, assistants, representatives, and/or consultants. 

15 12. Each Defendant, when acting as a principal, ratified the wrongful actions 

16 of each and every one of its agents, servants, employees, assistants, representatives, 

17 and/or consultants. 

18 

19 GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

20 13. In 201 7 and 2018, Plaintiff Lori Ann Gonzalez learned of the existence of 

21 multiple financial accounts in her name that had been opened without her knowledge by 

22 an unauthorized person using her personal identifying information. 

23 14. Among the accounts Plaintiff learned of was a "The Limited" branded 

24 credit card, issued by Defendant Comenity Bank. 

25 15. "The Limited" is a retailer selling women's clothing and shoes primarily 

26 for personal, family or household use. 

27 16. Plaintiff has never applied for or received a "The Limited" branded credit 

28 card, or any credit card issued by Defendant Comenity Bank. 

2 
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1 1 7. Plaintiff did not use or possess the credit, goods, services, money, or 

2 property obtained by the identity theft. 

3 18. Plaintiff learned of the existence of the "The Limited" branded credit card 

4 account in her name when she began receiving telephone calls in Fresno, California, 

5 from Defendants seeking to collect on the purported debt. 

6 19. Defendants record telephone calls to debtors (as defined in Civil Code 

7 section 1788.18, subdivision (i)). 

8 20. In these telephone calls, Plaintiff informed Defendants orally that she did 

9 not open the account and is a victim of identity theft. 

1 0 21. Defendants never informed Plaintiff, orally or in writing, that the claim of 

11 identity theft must be in writing. 

12 22. Defendants maintain a pattern and practice of failing to inform debtors 

13 who make oral claims of identity theft that the claims must be in writing. 

14 23. In August of 2018, Plaintiff mailed, to a "Contact Us" address found on 

15 Comenity Bank's website, written notification that she did not open or apply for or 

16 make any transactions on the "The Limited" credit card account, and that she is a victim 

17 of identity theft with respect to that account. 

18 24. Enclosed with Plaintiffs August 2018 letter was a copy of a police report 

19 filed by Plaintiff pursuant to section 530.6 of the Penal Code, alleging that she is the 

20 victim of an identity theft crime with respect to the specific "The Limited" credit card 

21 debt and explaining the basis for the allegation. 

22 25. Plaintiffs August 2018 letter included a certification satisfying the 

23 requirements of Civil Code section 1788.18, subdivision (b )(3)(K). 

24 26. In her August 2018 letter, Plaintiff requested copies of the account 

25 application for the "The Limited" credit card, any signatures associated with the 

26 account, and any bills associated with the account. 

27 27. On September 5, 2018, Comenity Bank received Plaintiffs August 2018 

28 letter. 

3 
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1 28. On September 17, 2018, Plaintiff mailed a copy of the August 2018 letter, 

2 police report enclosed, to an address found on the Internet that had been designated by 

3 Comenity Bank for complaints related to credit reporting issues. 

4 29. On September 20, 2018, Comenity Bank received the letter that Plaintiff 

5 mailed on September 1 7, 1018. 

6 30. In response to Plaintiffs letter, Comenity Bank sent Plaintiff a letter dated 

7 October 7, 2018, rejecting her claim of identity theft without providing copies of any of 

8 the documents she had requested. 

9 31. In December 2018, Plaintiff again sent a letter to Comenity Bank 

10 regarding the "The Limited" account; Comenity Bank received the letter on December 

11 29,2018. 

12 32. In her December 2018 letter to Comenity Bank, Plaintiff included her 

13 identifying information and a copy of the police report filed pursuant to section 530.6 of 

14 the Penal Code. 

15 3 3. In her December 2018 letter to Comenity Bank, Plaintiff asked what 

16 categories of identifying information were used to open the account, and she requested 

17 copies of the account application and other documents associated with the account. 

18 34. Defendants did not inform Plaintiff what categories of identifying 

19 information were used to open the account, nor did they provide Plaintiff with copies of 

20 the account application and other documents associated with the "The Limited" 

21 account, as required by California Penal Code section 530.8. 

22 3 5. Defendants maintain a pattern and practice of not providing requested 

23 information and documents as required under California Penal Code section 530.8, 

24 within ten business days of receiving a person's submission of a copy of their police 

25 report and identifying information or of receiving a person's request to be informed of 

26 what categories of identifying information were used to apply for or open an account. 

27 36. As a result of the Defendants' conduct, Plaintiff suffered actual damage. 

28 

4 
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1 3 7. Defendants' practices alleged herein present a continuing threat to 

2 Plaintiff, the Classes, and members of the public unless enjoined or restrained. 

3 

4 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

5 38. This action is brought, and may properly be maintained, as a class action 

6 pursuant to the provisions of Code of Civil Procedure section 3 82. 

7 39. Definition. Plaintiff brings this class action on behalf of herself and two 

8 Classes of persons residing within California at the time(s) of the alleged violations as 

9 further defined as follows: 

10 a. The Oral Identity Theft Claim Class: Each and every California 

11 "debtor" (as defined in Civ. Code, § 1788.18, subd. (i)), who notified Defendants 

12 orally that the debtor is a victim of identity theft; and who Defendants did not 

13 inform that the claim of identity theft must be in writing. 

14 b. The Information Request Class: Each and every California person 

15 (as defined in Pen. Code,§ 530.8, subd. (e)(4)), who (1) informed Comenity 

16 Bank that an application (as defined in Pen. Code, § 530.8, subd. (e)(l)) in the 

17 person's name was filed or an account in the person's name was opened with 

18 Comenity Bank without the person's authorization; and who (2) either: (a) 

19 presented to Comenity Bank a copy of a police report prepared pursuant to 

20 section 530.6 of the California Penal Code and identifying information in the 

21 categories of information used to complete the application or to open the account, 

22 and requested information and/or documents related to the application or 

23 account, or (b) requested to be informed of the categories of identifying 

24 information used to complete the application or to open the account; and (3) to 

25 whom Comenity Bank did not provide the requested information within ten 

26 business days of receipt of the person's police report and identifying information, 

27 or within ten business days of receipt of the person's request to be informed of 

28 the categories of identifying information used. 

5 
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1 40. Excluded from the Classes are: (a) Judges participating in this action and 

2 members of their immediate families; (b) Defendants and any entity in which 

3 Defendants have a controlling interest or which has a controlling interest in Defendants; 

4 (c) D~fendants' legal representatives, assigns and successors; and (d) all persons who 

5 properly execute and file a timely request for exclusion from the Class. 

6 41. Numerosity. Each Class consists of numerous persons, geographically 

7 dispersed throughout California, the joinder of whom in one action is impractical. 

8 42. Ascertainability. The Classes are ascertainable and identifiable. 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

43. Commonality. Questions of law and fact common to the Classes exist as to 

all members of the Classes and predominate over any questions affecting only 

individual members of the Classes. These common legal and factual issues include: 

a. Whether Defendants maintain a pattern and practice of not telling 

debtors who orally claim identity theft that such claims must be in writing; 

b. Whether Defendants maintain a pattern and practice of not 

providing upon request the information and documents that California persons 

are entitled to under California Penal Code section 530.8; and 

c. Whether Defendants' conduct is unlawful and/or unfair. 

44. Typicality. Plaintiffs claims are typical of the claims of the Class 

19 members, as all such claims arise out of Defendants' conduct alleged herein of 

20 maintaining standardized patterns and practices with regard to claims of identity theft, 

21 and failing to provide the Class members with information they are entitled to by law. 

22 45. Adequacy of Representation. Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in 

23 class action litigation. Plaintiff and her counsel will fairly and adequately protect the 

24 interests of the members of the Classes and have no interests antagonistic to those of the 

25 Classes. 

26 46. Predominance and Superiority. This Class action is appropriate for 

27 certification because questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class es 

28 predominate over questions affecting only individual members, and a Class action is 

6 
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1 superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this 

2 controversy, since individual joinder of all members of the Classes is impracticable. 

3 Were individual Class members required to bring separate actions, this Court and 

4 Courts throughout California would be confronted with multiple lawsuits burdening the 

5 court system while also creating the risk of inconsistent rulings and contradictory 

6 judgments. In contrast to proceeding on a case-by-case basis, in which inconsistent 

7 results could magnify the delay and expense to all parties and the court system, this 

8 Class action presents far fewer management difficulties while providing unitary 

9 adjudication, economies of scale and comprehensive supervision by a single Court. 

10 

11 CLASS CAUSES OF ACTION 

12 FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

13 (Violations of California Civil Code, § 17 8 8 .18' s Requirement to Notify Oral Identity 

14 Theft Claimants that the Claim Must Be in Writing) 

15 (By Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of the Oral Identity Theft Claim Class, 

16 against all Defendants) 

17 4 7. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each of the preceding 

18 allegations as though fully set forth hereafter. 

19 48. Plaintiff is a "debtor" as that term is defined in Civil Code section 

20 1788.18, subdivision (i), in that she is a natural person from whom a debt collector 

21 seeks to collect a consumer debt that is alleged to be due and owing from Plaintiff. 

22 49. Does 1-10 are alter egos of other Defendants. 

23 50. Defendants Comenity Bank and Does 11-20 are "debt collectors" as that 

24 term is defined in Civil Code section 1788.2, subdivision (c), in that they engage in acts 

25 and maintain practices in connection with the collection of consumer debts, in the 

26 ordinary course of business, regularly, on behalf of themselves or others. 

27 51. Defendants' conduct in response to oral claims of identity theft was and is 

28 persistent, frequent, willful and knowing. 

7 
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1 52. By failing to notify Plaintiff and the Oral Identity Theft Claim Class that 

2 the claims of identity theft must be in writing, Defendants willfully and knowingly 

3 violated Civil Code section 1788.18, subdivision ( c ). 

4 

5 SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

6 (Violations of California Penal Code, § 530.8, subd. (a)) 

7 (By Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of the Information Request Class, 

8 against Defendants Comenity Bank and Does 1-10 and 21-30) 

9 53. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each of the preceding 

10 allegations as though fully set forth hereafter. 

11 54. Defendants' conduct in response to Plaintiff's and the Information Request 

12 Class members' requests for information and/or documents was and is persistent, 

13 frequent, willful and knowing. 

14 55. By failing to provide the information and/or documents requested by 

15 Plaintiff and the Information Request Class members within ten business days of receipt 

16 of their police reports and identifying information or within ten business days of receipt 

17 of their requests to be informed of the categories of identifying information used to 

18 apply for or open accounts, Defendants have willfully and knowingly violated Penal 

19 Code section 530.8, subdivision (a). 

20 

21 THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

22 (Violations of California Business & Professions Code, §§ 17200 et seq.) 

23 (By Plaintiff Individually and on Behalf of All Classes, against all Defendants) 

24 56. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each of the preceding 

25 allegations as though fully set forth hereafter. 

26 57. California Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., also 

27 known as the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), prohibits acts of "unfair competition," 

28 including any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice. 
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1 58. Defendants' conduct alleged herein constitutes unlawful and unfair acts or 

2 practices within the meaning of the UCL. 

3 59. As a direct result of Defendants' unlawful and unfair acts and practices, 

4 Plaintiff and the members of the Classes sustained injuries in fact. 

5 60. Defendants' unlawful and unfair business practices alleged herein present 

6 a continuing threat to Plaintiff, the Class and members of the public in that Defendants 

7 persist and continue to engage in these practices, and will not cease doing so unless and 

8 until forced to do so by this Court. Defendants' conduct is causing and will continue to 

9 cause irreparable injury to Plaintiff, the Classes and members of the public unless 

10 enjoined or restrained. 

11 61. Defendants violated the UCL as alleged above and in the following 

12 regards. 

13 Failure to Inform Oral Claimants that Identity Theft Claims Must Be in Writing 

14 62. Unlawful. Defendants' conduct was and is unlawful insofar as it violates 

15 Civil Code section 1788.18, subdivision ( c ). 

16 63. Unfair. Defendants' conduct was and is unfair in that the harm to 

1 7 consumers outweighs the utility of the conduct. 

18 Failure to Provide Debtors with Requested Information Regarding Alleged Debts 

19 64. Unlawful. Defendants' conduct was and is unlawful insofar as it violates 

20 Penal Code section 530.8, subdivision (a), Civil Code section 1748.95, subdivision (a), 

21 and Financial Code section 4002, subdivision (a). 

22 65. Unfair. Defendants' conduct was and is unfair in that the harm to 

23 consumers outweighs the utility of the conduct. 

24 Ill 

25 Ill 

26 Ill 

27 Ill 

28 Ill 
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1 INDIVIDUAL CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

3 (Action to Establish Identity Theft under California Civil Code, § 1798.93) 

4 (By Plaintiff Individually, 

5 against Defendants Comenity Bank and Does 1-10 and 21-30) 

6 66. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference each of the preceding 

7 allegations as though fully set forth hereafter. 

8 67. Plaintiff provided written notice to Comenity Bank at the address 

9 designated by Comenity Bank for complaints related to credit reporting issues that a 

10 situation of identity theft might exist and explaining the basis for that belief, at least 3 0 

11 days prior to her filing of this action. 

12 68. Plaintiff's written notice to Comenity Bank included a valid copy of a 

13 police report promptly filed pursuant to section 530.6 of the Penal Code. 

14 69. Defendants failed to diligently investigate Plaintiff's notification of 

15 identity theft. 

16 70. Defendants continued to pursue the claim against Plaintiff after being 

17 presented with the facts underlying Plaintiff's claim of identity theft. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

1. On the First Class Cause of Action (Violations of Civ. Code, § 1788.18, 

subd. ( c ), regarding oral claims of identity theft), actual damages according to proof and 

statutory damages to be paid to Plaintiff and each Oral Identity Theft Claim Class 

member, and attorneys' fees and costs; 

2. On the Second Class Cause of Action (Violations of Pen. Code, § 530.8, 

subd. (a)), actual damages according to proof and a penalty as authorized by Penal Code 

section 530.8, subdivision (d)(2), to be paid to Plaintiff and each Information Request 

10 
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1 Class member; injunctive relief and such other equitable relief as the Court may deem 

2 appropriate; and reasonable attorneys' fees and costs; 

3 3. On the Third Class Cause of Action (Violations of Bus. & Profs. Code, §§ 

4 17200, et seq.), restitution for Plaintiff and all Class members, injunctive relief and 

5 such other equitable relief as the Court may deem appropriate; and an award of 

6 attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5; 

7 4. On the individual Fourth Cause of Action (Action to Establish Identity 

8 Theft under Civ. Code, § 1798.93), declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and such other 

9 equitable relief as the Court may deem appropriate; actual damages according to proof; 

10 a civil penalty; and attorneys' fees and costs; 

11 5. 

12 law; and 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

6. 

Interest on all sums awarded at the maximum legal rate as provided by 

Such other relief as the Court may deem appropriate. 

Tavy A. Dumont, SBN 244946 
LAW OFFICE OF TAVY A. DUMONT 
101 Cooper Street # 223 
Santa Cruz, California 95060-4526 

Jonathan Weiss, SBN 143895 
LAW OFFICE OF JONATHAN WEISS 
10576 Troon Avenue 
Los Angeles, California 90064-4436 

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the proposed 
Classes 

23 Dated: January 25, 2018 By: /s/ Tayy A. Dumont 
TAVY A. DUMONT 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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CONSUMER LAW OFFICE OF WILLIAM E. KENNEDY 
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Telephone: (408) 241-1000 
Facsimile: (408) 241-1500 
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Attorneys for Plaintiff  
HEATHER L. NEWTON and the Class 
 
Other counsel listed on signature page 
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NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
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behalf of others similarly situated, 
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NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION 

 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on June 30, 2016 at 1:30 p.m. or as soon thereafter as 

the matter may be heard in Courtroom 5 of the above-entitled court, located at the Philip 

Burton Federal Building, 450 Golden Gate Ave., San Francisco, CA 94102, plaintiff Heather 

Newton will, and hereby does, respectfully apply to this Court for an award of attorneys’ fees 

of $348,091, litigation expenses of $19,409, and a service award of $7,500.  Plaintiff makes 

this motion pursuant to California’s private attorney general statute, Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 

1021.5, or in the alternative the common fund doctrine, and the Court’s equitable powers. 

This Motion is based on this Notice; the accompanying Points and Authorities; the 

Declarations of William E. Kennedy, Tavy A. Dumont, and Heather L. Newton; the complete 

files and records in this action; such evidence as may be presented at the hearing; and such 

other matters as the Court may take notice. 

 

Dated:  April 25, 2016  By:  /s/ Tavy A. Dumont 
      Tavy A. Dumont 

LAW OFFICE OF TAVY A. DUMONT 
101 Cooper Street, Suite 223 
Santa Cruz, CA  95060  

 
CONSUMER LAW OFFICE OF WILLIAM E. 
KENNEDY 
2797 Park Avenue, Suite 201 
Santa Clara, California 95050 

 
F. Paul Bland, Jr. 
PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C. 
1825 K Street, NW, Suite 200 
Washington, D.C. 20006 
(202) 797-8600 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Class 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

 

I. INTRODUCTION 

After almost five years of hard-fought litigation, the proposed settlement before the 

Court would give the Class a payment amounting to more than nineteen times the money the 

settling Defendants, Global Client Solutions (“Global”) and Rocky Mountain Bank & Trust 

(“RMBT”), gained from the Class members.  The proposed settlement would give each Class 

member approximately two-thirds of the fees he or she paid to all defendants combined, 

including the defaulted defendants. 

Settlement was reached after Plaintiff prevailed on a contested class certification 

motion, after Plaintiff’s core claims withstood two motions to dismiss and three motions for 

summary judgment, after Plaintiff withstood a motion to compel arbitration, defeated an 

appeal in the Ninth Circuit, and fought through multiple discovery disputes, including two that 

led to discovery motions.  Now, Plaintiff asks that the Court grant her application for a service 

award of $7,500, attorneys’ fees of $348,091, and out-of-pocket litigation expenses of 

$19,409. 

California law governs the right to attorneys’ fees in this case as well as the method of 

calculating those fees, because the Court is exercising supplemental jurisdiction of Plaintiff’s 

state law claims. 

 

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES TO BE DECIDED 

Whether the Court should grant Plaintiff’s application for a service award of 

$7,500, attorneys’ fees of $348,091, and out-of-pocket litigation expenses of 

$19,409. 
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law.” Lilly v. Jamba Juice Co., No. 13-cv-02998–JST, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 57637, at *12, 

2015 WL 2062858, at *5 (N.D. Cal. May 1, 2015).  “[Serrano III] arguably renders it 

questionable whether a pure percentage fee can be awarded even in a conventional common 

fund case (see Dunk v. Ford Motor Co., [48 Cal.App.4th 1794] at p. 1809)… .”  Lealao v. 

Beneficial Cal., Inc., 82 Cal.App.4th 19, 39 (2000). 

 

D. The Lodestar Supports an Award of $348,091 

"The lodestar . . . is produced by multiplying the number of hours reasonably expended 

by counsel by a reasonable hourly rate."  Lealao, supra,  82 Cal.App.4th at p. 26.  The court 

may then increase or decrease that amount by applying a positive or negative multiplier to take 

into account a variety of other factors, including the quality of the representation, the novelty 

and complexity of the issues, the results obtained, and the contingent risk presented.  Id. 

Class Counsel’s time records, and a spreadsheet with hours subtotaled by category 

along with the lodestar calculations, are attached to the Declaration of Tavy A. Dumont, 

lodged herewith subject to a sealing motion.  Attorneys Kennedy, Dumont, Paul Bland, Leslie 

Bailey and Amy Radon expended 640.2, 1510.2, 8.3, 255.73, and 11.6 hours, respectively, for 

a total of 2,426 hours.  Using hourly rates of $450 for Mr. Kennedy, $300 for Ms. Dumont, 

$505 for Mr. Bland, $355 for Ms. Bailey, and $290 for Ms. Radon (the hourly rates are 

discussed in section IV.2 below), the lodestar to date is $823,621.  Class Counsel project that 

they will spend an additional 65 hours on obtaining final approval and implementing the 

settlement, bringing the lodestar to $846,121.  Nevertheless, Class Counsel request a fee 

award of only $348,091, which is less than 42% of Class Counsel’s projected lodestar. 

 

1. Class Counsel Reasonably Expended 2,426 Hours on this Litigation 

The procedural history of this litigation (see section III above) reflects that it has been 

labor-intensive and time consuming.  For example: 
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Dumont Decl.).6  In addition, $7,791.13 is owed to Class Administrator CPT.  (CPT agreed to 

charge a flat fee of $9,000 for settlement administration expenses.  Of that, Class Counsel have 

paid $1,208.87 and the balance has not yet been invoiced.  Dumont Decl., ¶ 11.)  Therefore, 

Plaintiff requests an award of costs in the amount of $19,409 ($5,073.53 + 6,544.43 + 

$7,791.13=19,409.09, rounded to whole dollars).  These expenses are of the type ordinarily 

billed to a client and were necessarily incurred. 

 

VI. AN AWARD OF $7,500 FOR PLAINTIFF’S SERVICE TO THE CLASS IS 

APPROPRIATE   

Plaintiff has contributed substantially to the litigation for nearly five years, by providing 

information and documents before suit was filed; having her deposition taken; responding to 

written discovery requests; meeting with her attorneys several times, reviewing and signing 

several documents, participating in two Settlement Conferences with Judge Westmore and the 

successful mediation with Judge Westerfield, including travel from her home in San Jose to 

Oakland and San Francisco, where the settlement discussions took place.  Dumont Decl., ¶ 12; 

Newton Decl., ¶ 3.  A list of the time Ms. Newton devoted to this case is contained in her 

declaration, filed herewith. 

 

VII. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Plaintiff Heather Newton’s application for a service award of 

$7,500, attorneys’ fees of $348,091, and costs of $19,409 should be granted. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
Dated:  April 25, 2016  By:  /s/ Tavy A. Dumont 
      Tavy A. Dumont 
 

LAW OFFICE OF TAVY A. DUMONT 

                                              
6 Attorney Dumont has expended a total of $7,064.33 to date, which includes charges of $209.65 for 
court transcripts and $310.25 for postage, which are not allowable as costs under Code of Civil 
Procedure section 1033.5, so those costs are not requested for purposes of an award under state law. 
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CONSUMER LAW OFFICE OF WILLIAM E. 
KENNEDY 
F. Paul Bland, Jr. 
PUBLIC JUSTICE, P.C. 
1825 K Street, NW, Suite 200 
Washington, D.C.  20006 
(202) 797-8600 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Class 
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TOMIO B. NARITA (SBN 156576)
tnarita@snllp.com
R. TRAVIS CAMPBELL (SBN 271580)
tcampbell@snllp.com
SIMMONDS & NARITA LLP
44 Montgomery Street, Suite 3010
San Francisco, CA 94104-4816
Telephone: (415) 283-1000
Facsimile:   (415) 352-2625

Attorneys for Defendant 
Comenity Bank

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

LORI ANN GONZALEZ,
individually and on behalf of others
similarly situated,

                     Plaintiff,

                     vs.

COMENITY BANK, DOES 1-30,

                     Defendants.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

CASE NO. 

DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF
INTERESTED PARTIES

GONZALEZ v. COMENITY BANK  (CASE NO. _____________________) 
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

Case 1:19-cv-00348-LJO-BAM   Document 1-1   Filed 03/14/19   Page 1 of 2



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 7.1, the undersigned counsel of

record for defendant COMENITY BANK certifies that the following persons,

association of persons, firms, partnerships, corporations (including parent

corporation) or other entities have pecuniary interest in the outcome of this case and

hereby identifies its parent corporations and lists any publicly held company that

owns 10% or more of its stock.  These representations are made to enable the Court

to evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. Comenity LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

2. ADS Alliance Data Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

3. Alliance Data Systems Corporation, a publicly-traded Delaware corporation,

which trades on the New York Stock Exchange as “ADS.”

DATED: March 14, 2019 SIMMONDS & NARITA LLP
TOMIO B. NARITA
R. TRAVIS CAMPBELL

By:     /s/R. Travis Campbell                           
R. Travis Campbell
Attorneys for Defendant 
Comenity Bank

GONZALEZ v. COMENITY BANK  (CASE NO. _____________________) 
DEFENDANT’S NOTICE OF INTERESTED PARTIES 1
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